Wilmington Historical Walking Tour
1. Alook at the current Wllmlnqton Bridge and Dam 1 (a goodphoto op!)

Prior to 1881, thissame vantage point would have given you the view in the phato the left. In the
early 180006s peopl e asse ofits|pedmity to theechamcahwgterpowertofe ¢
the AuSable River and because of the nearby resources of lumber and iron ore.

The photo showsa sawmill on the left of the bridge, a damagedawmill on the right of the bridge,

and agrist mill on theright in the foreground. The bridge is awooden bridgeand the dam was

much closer to the bridge than it is now.

On either side of theAuSable River, early settlers took advantage of the river for mechanical power
for making agricultural and industrial p roducts & for flood controls. The occupations in the
surrounding area included farming, mining, lumbering and charcoaling. The industries on the
river expanded as follows:
1  Ca.1800-- Leonard Owen builds thefirst grist mill , and likely the accompanying nill
pond dam.
1  Ca. 1812-- Reuben Sanford builds a wooden dam for mechanical water power for an
iron forge, potash factory, starch factory, grist mills and saw mills.
1  Ca. 1850-- other industrialists take over the forge, factories, and mills, incliding
Weston& Nye, James Blissand Monroe Hall.
As the iron industry moved out to Minnesota and other more Western statesinéh | at e,Wi 1 8n0 @ ¢ o n &kmsed etahany tvas slaMy replaced
by a tourism-based economy. Ariron bridge replaced this wooden one after 1881, which in turn was replaced by the current stobgdge in 1934.

2. Wilmington E.M. Cooper Memorial Li brary (& former sawmill site)
Photo ca. 1934

Ellison Minor Cooper, born in Wilmington in 1854, had left this area becominga prominent
successfubusinessman in Philadgdhia, PA. Near the end of his life, as his health was beginning to
fail, he decided to leave #&egacy in the form of a public library to be built in his boyhood home of
Wilmington along with a substantial bequesto support the library in his Will . The Cooper Memorial
Library Association was formed on August 20, 191®&ith Mr. Cooper present. He began by donating
between 5000 and 6000 bookd$Jntil a building could be constructed, the library was emporarily
housed inthe Methodist Church lower level that hada southside etry of its own. E.M. cooper died
at his home in Philadelphia in September 1920’he new library building was completed in 1934 on
the site of one of the former sawmills.

3. Wilmington Dam Dedication Plaque & 1980 Winter Olympics Sign & chairlift
(another great photo op!)

While there has been alam in this approximate location since abot1810, the current Wilmington

Dam was constructed in 1938 with major renovations & reconstruction done in 2003004.The first
purposes ofthe dam, from 181018706 s, wer e f or mechani cal power for
industrial products and flood controls. In 1878, part of the wooden dam broke, damaging some mills

and property. The dam and mills were repaired, but a new era was dawning with the natural beauty

oft he area becoming popular with the new idea of f
Mountains. Local hotel owners Weston, and later F.E. Everest, began publicizing the recreational
opportunities of the AuSable River at Wilmington. In 1920, Frank E. Everest built a power generation

system to supply his Whiteface Mountain House (hotel) and other properties with electricity. On

March 1936, the spring thaw and large blocks of ice destroyed the dam. By 1938, a new dam which

was built for the purposes of rereation, the potential for electrical power generation, and flood
controls. At this | ast dam era, the shift from Wi
tourism had taken place.

Wilmington was the site of the1980 Winter Olympics Alpine eveits held at Whiteface MountainSki Center. The current Ski Center site opened in 1957,

having relocated from its original site on the Mable Mountain side of Whiteface, which had been developed in the post WWII era. It isomprised of

approximately 283 skiable acres of land with 86ski trails and the greatest vertical drop in theeast at3,430 feetIn 1980 there was a bad snow drought, the

worst since 1887, but because of a new snowmaking system, Whiteface was able to make ammeae snow cover which had neer before been usedn

Olympic Games competitions. Among the welknown competitors at the time were Swedish Olympian Ingemar Stenmark who took gold dioththeme n 6 s

slalom & giant slalom, American Phil Mahre who took silver in the slalom andLiechtenstte i n6s Hanni Wenzel who took silver
in both womeno6s s l.&hiteface Maudaingki @emtercusréntly Ihastemany World Cup competitions and has many times been voted the

#1 Ski resort by Ski Magazine.




4. Bliss House (hotel sitgcurrently a different private homeis located on the same site)

The Bliss House (hotelwas a popular stage stop on the route from AuSablChasmto Lake

Pl aci d i n tlhadvertisadthe frestgest fh@dsgood water, tephone & telegraph
connection, a first class livery, good saddle horses, fine baseball grounds and tennis court. It
also offered a direct route to the top of Whiteface Mountain on a bridle trail so that horses
could be ridden to the top of the mountain.

|

|

5. Bliss Farm (now a private residence)

The BlissFarm was constructed in approximately 1890. While the farm supplied fresh milk , butter &
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i eggs to the Bliss House (hotel), it also accommodated tourists with rooms & meals.
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6. Pleasant View Gmetery (formerly the Hayes Cemetery)

) b
¢ ' : ), The Pleasant View Cemeteryis one of 5 cemeteries located in the Town of Wilmington, but is the
% X most centrally locatedMany of t he memori al stones date to th
pioneer families, whofor the most part have New England roots. For example, Amos Avery, the
townds first blacksmith, and his family are buri

the Battle of Plattsburgh in the War of 1812, is also buried here. Wilmington meand women gave
their lives in other wars as well, including Lafayette Warren who died in Andersonville Prison
during the American Civil War. Many other Wilmington Veterans are buried here, as well.

7.Veterands Memori al Corner

Located at the irtersection of Route 86, Bonnieview

; Road, and the start of Whiteface Mountain Veterans IN MEMORIAM
WELCOME TO Memorial Highway is a plaque dedicated to the DEDICATED TO THE VETERANS OF ALL WARS
veterans of all wars. The Whiteface Memorial
WILMINGTON Highway was originally built to honor the veterans “LEST WE FORGET”
AND of World War | . Later, it was rededicated to all

veterans of all wars.Whiteface Mountain Veterans
Memorial Highway allows anyone, regardless of
physical ability, to attain the top of one of New York
St at ghest pe&ks. The project begam 1929
el With Governor Franklin D. Roosevet turning over
I | the first spade of earth. The highway was officially
Adirondack Hospitality Since 1822 opened on July 20,1935.The dedication is entitled,
R ifiLest We Forgeto.

i




8. The Owalssa Club now thé.ake Everest Parkand Wilmington Town Beach
g (NOTE:The building in the photo on the left no longer exists.)

Organized in 1920 the Owaissa Club, Inc.was built and maintained as a clean, safe place for recreation for
young people. A small membership fee was charged for residents and gueEtguipment included row

boats, canoes, a nt@n picture machine, a player piano with hundreds of rolls, a phonograph with many
records, indoor and outside fireplacesa kitchen and a welistocked reading room.

Eventually, the Owaissa Club building and surrounding area was replaced bthe Lake Everest Park and
the Wilmington Town Beach.Most recently, a new pavilion,rest roomsand boat launch have been put in
place

9. Frank E. Everest Memorial

L A KE E V ERE S T Frank Everest was an entrepreneur and promoter of Wilmington as a resort community and was
NAMED IN MEMORY OF instrumental in encouraging the idea of constructing a road up Whiteface Mountain. He was the
FRANK E. EVEREST owner and proprietor of the famed Whiteface Mountain House (hotel) and a weknown
(1868 TO 1937) businessman. He encouraged the fel ectridtitdthiscat i on
small rural town by constructing a small hydro-power plant at the Wilmington Dam. Lake Everest

WHO AS A LIFETIME RESIDENT OF WILMINGTON, NY, . . .
- is named in his memory.

AND WILMINGTON'S MOST MEMORABLE ENTREPRENEUR,
OWNED AND OPERATED THE WHITEFACE MOUNTAIN HOUSE.
THE TOWN FITED ENORMOUSLY FROM MR. EVEREST
SINCE IT WA STS TO HIS INN WHO OVER MANY YEARS
GGESTED A ROAD TO THE TOP OF WHITEFACE MOUNTAIN,

WHICH WAS LATER BUILT IN MEMORY OF
THE VETERANS OF WORLD WAR [

10. Wilmington Airport/ Walter Prager Ski Shop(now the North Pole Gift Shop& Campgrounds)

(Photo June B28, Hazel and Bessie Olney at the
Wilmington Airport in front of an Albany Air Service
plane.)

In June 0f1928, construction ofthe Wilmington Airport was completed on the
land now occupied by the North Pole Campground. With land donated and
developedby Frank E. Everest, proprietor of the Whiteface Mountain House, it
had 2 runways, one 1600 feet lonigito the prevailing winds and the other 1300
feet longinto the crosswinds In 1929, Christie Mathewson, Jr., son of the
famous New York Giant pitcherin the early days of professional baseball, ran
airplane sight-seeing tours fromhereBy t h e da#plafed grew inesize
and needs fo larger municipal airports increased, the airport eventually was no
longer adequate the buildings were disbanded or mvedand other businesses
took over the land.

One of the businesses that was built opart of the former Wilmington Airport land was the ski
shop,Maison de Ski, owned and operated by Walter PragerPrager was aSwissimmigrant and

veteran ofthe famed 18" Mountain Division, having seen combat in ItalyHe was adownhill ski

racer and world champion skier. He was also a ski instructor at Dartmouth, a coach of the 1948

Ol ympic Ski Team and devel oped efohtlee Olyopmeat 6s do wn
Squaw Valley. In addition to the running this ski shop on Route 86, halso operatedthe ski shop

at the Lodge atPaleface Ski Centeon the mountains overlooking nearby Jay, NY.




11. The Carousel Restauant & Strawberry Roan Gift Shop(now the Candyman & AuSable River Fly

Shop)

(Photo ca. 1949)

The Carousel Restaurant and Strawberry Roan Gift Shopvere designed by artist Arto Monaco, who

also designed the buildings at Santads Womattes hop ¢
them a popular tourist spot. Later the Restaurant became the Gateway Restaurant and the smaller

gift shop has seen many businessesciuding a real estate officeand now the AuSable River Fly

Shop.

(Photo ca. 1900) (Photo ca. 1930)

Located on the west sle of the West Branch of the Ausable RiveHotel Olney ranked among the best in the North Country.It was first owned by Edwin

Olney, a Civil War veteran, who established his hotel business ca. 1869d wi n 6 s  Otney toGkeeathe business and waproprietor well into the 20"

century. The hotel hadlawn tennis and croquet groundsas well as giano and organ provided for guestsCottages were also added as an option for guests,

one of which can still be see next to the river on the same propergnd another is now a tanning salon, exercise facility, UPS Mail drop, gift shop & coffee

shop. In later years, as other owners took over the businesbe hotel was variously named fie Whiteface Club, Riverside, The Homestead, The Wilmington

Inn, TheClouds pin I nn, The Fal enoanndesd Nrehset ,Wianmli nlgatsotnl yl rne. The buil ding burned in
residence.

13. Bouchard or Marshall Block (now the Lake Everest Diner)

Built by Geor ge i Greu HdEipPtadetestawantaoh the fifstrfloot and apartments

above. There was also an electrical and contractin
l evel . After the Whiteface Memori al Hi g h wbaiding& new
had to be raised to match the level of the road. Since the first restaurant, the business on the main floor

has been the fAWhiteface Mar ket o, the AAusabl e Rive

This private home was once the residence of Frank E. Everest, w&thown entrepreneur and businessman and
the owner & proprietor of the Whiteface Mountain House, a wellknown hotel which had been located on
adjoining property.




15. Whiteface Mountain House(hotel) Site (how Wilson Farmsstore)

WHITEFACE MOUNTAIN HOUSE, WILMINGTON, NEW YORK
AT THE FOOT OF THE WHITEFACE MOUNTAIN HIGHWAY

F.E. EVEREST. PROP.
WILMINGTON, N. Y, aSaer o =

(Photo ca. 1900) (Photo ca.A1.9435)

The Whiteface Mountain House (hotel) had been the cornerstone of theurist trade in Wilmington spanning two different centuries. In an 1871 descriptive
guide to the Adirondacks, the Whiteface Mountain House, Iowimeassenhggrsdhagshy on a
stagecoacht hr ough t o t he $opatthe WhtefaceaMoentin Hause and kave an opportunity of ascending the mountain, and be carried for

the same price as if they wentfibbavbpsgWwi di rketpoowvi dedodonerke river, to ac
necessaryat endants, at aldestsimesaodoriagds Agd good saddl mahot6trave guide, With FraneE.c endi ng
Everestnowas proprietor, this fApopul ar houseodo off egwidndid,aragred ps ared aginans gsh tf ar
were available at the time. Terms were $10 to $14 per week. In its peak years the Whiteface Mountain House employed 30 psrand served 600 meals on a
busy summer Sunday. | n t h&nanted 2 Wadesvheel ganerator Wuilt at thé oldBvecelen eamt to electrify the Hotel and bring it up
the standards and expectations of its guest. The af t ernHodséwasthe centerpiecefh at t h

Wilmington until the death of Frank Everest in 1937.

16. Wilmington Village School Site (building no longer in existence)
now Wilmington Town Hall & Community Center

(Photo ca. 1950)

In the 19" century, Wilmington originally had 8 different o ne-room schools, scattered about theown,

later reduced to 6 school districtsOne of the schools was called the 0
in the center of the town. Originally it was located next to the current Nazarene Church. A new school

was built on that same spot in 1911, but the heating system was flawed and in 1917 the 6 ya#d-school

burned down. All children were evacuated safely, but the school and contents were a complete |G$e

property was sold at auction and theschool wasmovedto the location of the present Wilmington Town

Hall & Community Center, land purchased from Albert Wilkins for $200. The Wilmington Village

School (in the photo) served the Wilmington village school children until the district, along with 2 of the

other Wi |l mi ngton District Schools merged with the L
the building was torn down to make way for the current Wilmington Town Hall & Community Center.

17. Help Each Other Club/Old Town Hall /Northern Lights School (how the Whiteface Range Hall)

The current Whiteface Range Hall was originally buil
place where townspeople could gather for social activities. The organization was actually a front for the

KKK, not so much against African Americans, but antiCatholic, following the widespread
Adirondack/Northern New York anti -Catholic movement at the time. It has also been reported that the

el der sd wo u fAnbralky straight opTdeohall served as a plae for meetings, square dances,
harvest dinners and Minstrel shows. In the 19406s
serving as a meeting place for the community. |n
Hall. The building also served as the place where the-mrganized Wilmington Library took formin 1983. In
the mid 199006s the Town Hall moved into the Wil mingt
building became the Northern Lights School. When the school moved ®aranac Lake, Roy &Becky Holzer
purchased the building and the building was renovated as the Whiteface Range Hall, a place anyone can rent

for gatherings.

t !
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18.St . Margaret 6s Roman Catholic Church

(Photo ca.)early 193006s)
The parish osfChuchwadd mecopaated in August 1926, with funding backed by Jon

J. Ob6Leary and George Smith. In the fall of that
wind, which literally knocked it off of its foundation. Until the church could be rebuilt and more
money raised, the church members met Wihdheand- whi | e

Catholic wave of sentiment in the area, the local KKK heldacross ur ni ng on John J.
property. Contemplated legal action was considered agaihthose participating, and the KKK

disbanded, with the church resuming normal operations. Sincbeing rebuilt, the church has
enjoyedcontinuous serviceto both the local and tourist community.

(Photo ca. 189006s)

The Congregational Church was builtin about 1834. The horse sheds to the lefi the photo were built in 1897 at a cost of $360.00’he church suspended
operations in 1907. The Nazane Church in Wilmington had its beginnings in1905 under theleadership of Daniel Haselton. The official churctwas
establishedin 1921, with 14 members. The first pastor, Rev. T.F. Harrington, serving 1921923, hal no car, so visited higarishioners by walking home to
home. He gainedeputations as the fastest man on foot in the town of Wilmington! The Nazarene Church wascorporated in 1932, taking over ownership of
the old Congregational Churchbuilding. In th e early days of barnstorming, the church took a hit! Ca. 1927, a barnstormer who was giving airplane rides
(from an airport located at the current North Pole campground), crashed into the side ahe Nazarene Church, falling tothe ground upside down The 2

passengers and the pilot were hurt. Frank Hewitt was one of the passengers who had facial wounds. The other was Jim Lawrerimehad a smashed leg.
Repairs were made and a new steeple constructed.

20. Site of the George Lawrence Store/ Cooper Store/l2ae | & Bill 6s Restaurant
(now an empty parking loton the cornen

(Photo ca. 1900)

Originally a general store owned by the Westons, as shown on an 1876 map,
the George Lawrence Store served as a gathering and resting place (note the
hammock on theporch!) as well as a general store. The Town Clerk had an

of fice on the second floor. The store b
as Cooperds Store, owned by Bert & Plin
not far from the village school, schoolkildren would wait here for their

parents to pickthemup.Lat er, Cooper déds Store became
Reseaur ant, which burned down in the 1970




21. St or r 0 ghotél/deasliag housg, currently a private home

The Storr ds Hdnghoese) s likelytthe bldest boase in

Wilmington, built by pioneer Reuben Sanford ca. 1810. The addition on

the right was added ca. 1812. It was used as an inn, a stage stop and a
store. Note the widowdbs watch on the
usudly found on New England homesin this photo, there is a

gentleman on the front porchin a wheelchair, Mr. Ira Storrs, a Civil

War veteran. There is also some oral history and speculation that this

was a houg on the Underground Railroad,a stop for runaway slaves on

their way to Plattsburgh, then on to Canada, but to date there is no
substantiation ofthese stories.

(Photo PostCivil War)

22 Amos Averyo6s Blhavabkrvateihonie Shop

When Amos Avery first arrived in Wilmington in 1822 from Burlington, VT, the area was just the
beginnings of a village with a fewmills and an iron forge. He set up a blacksmith shop near the center of
the village. He and a companion used to sleep in the shop and on winter mornirtgey would find their
pillows and bedclothes covered with snow which had drifted through the gaps ié¢ walls.

23. Reuben Sanford Building(formerly a store/ Post Office/Town Hall/ American Legion Building)

The current AReuben Sanford Buildingd is currentdl
Methodist Church, serving as its office and the lod&Ecumenical Food Pantry.Built in about 1835, it

first served as a store and post officethen becamethe Wilmington Town Hall, and finally was the
American Legion Hall, just prior to its purchase by the Methodist Church. Why is it now called the
fReuBanf or d Blo1803dat ayg28,’Reuben Sanforand his wife Polly had moved

westward from Woodbury, Connecticut to settle in the part of the Town of Jay now known as
Wilmington. He built a forge, a blacksmith shop and a saw mill. He also establishexth extensive iron
industry in Wilmington known as the Sanford Iron Works, and built a potash factory which used the
ashes from local farmers to make soap. He was also the first innkeeper in the village and sponsored the
construction of the village schoolbuse. During the War of 1812, he was commissioned as Major,

leading 4 companies of militia from the Towns of Jay, Keene and current Wilmington at the Battle of
Plattsburgh. He became a war hero in that battle when he kept the British from crossing a Plaktargh
bridge by cutting the stringers of the bridge while under heavy fire, one of the volleys actually striking
the axe he was using to chop the bridge timbers. After the war, he represented the district in the New
York State Assembly from 18141817, wasa delegate to the New York State Constitutional

Convention of 1821 and was a member of the State Senate for four years, being elected in 1828. He was instrumental in edtaigithe Town of Wilmington

as a separate entitfrom the Town of Jay in 1822 andbecame its first postmaster. He served as Town Supervisor for two ternmde was the primary force

behind the construction of Wilmington Methodist Church in 183334.Soon after the church was completed he erected the first store. Reuben Sanford was the
mightiest pioneer in the Town of Wilmington and one of the most prominent men in Northern New York.




